
United States District Court

Eastern District of Michigan
Southern Division

United States of America,

Plaintiff,

V.

Case: 2:24-cr-20552

Hon. Nancy G. Edmunds

Magistrate Hon. Anthony P. Patti
Tribar Technologies, Inc.,

Defendant.

/

Plea Agreement

The United States of America and the defendant, Tribar

Technologies, Inc. (Tribar), have reached a plea agreement under

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11. The plea agreement's terms are:

1. Count of Conviction

The defendant will plead guilty to Count 1 of the Information.

Count 1 charges the defendant with a neghgent violation of a

pretreatment standard under the Clean Water Act under 33 U.S.C. §§

1317(d) and 1319(c)(1)(A).

2. Statutory Minimum and Maximum Penalties

The defendant understands that the count to which it is pleading

guilty carries the following maximum statutory penalties:
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Count 1 Fine: $200,000, or twice the
pecuniary gain or loss, 18
U.S.C. § 3571(d)

Term of Probation: 5 years

3. Agreement Not to Bring Additional Charges

If the Court accepts this agreement and imposes sentence

consistent with its terms, and as long as the defendant fulfills its

obligations under its obligations under its probation term and the

required Corporate Comphance Plan (Attachment A), the United States

Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Michigan and the

Environmental Crimes Section, Environment & Natural Resources

Section, U.S. Department of Justice, (collectively "the government"),

will not bring additional charges against the defendant for any Clean

Water Act violations by the defendant that occurred before the date of

this agreement and of which the government is aware by the date of

this agreement. This agreement is limited to criminal prosecution of

the defendant and does not extend to any other parties involved in the

violations.

4. Elements of Count of Conviction

The elements of Count 1 are:
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a. On or about the dates set forth in the Information, within the

Eastern District of Michigan, the defendant, by and through

the actions of its agents and/or employees, operated and caused

to be operated a source;

b. The defendant operated the source in violation of a

pretreatment standard, namely the Wixom sewer use

ordinance, which requires immediate notification of batch

discharges and prohibits discharges that bypass an operator's

treatment system, by discharging untreated wastewater to the

Wixom sanitary sewer system and faihng to provide the

required immediate notice of such discharge;

c. The violation occurred after the effective date of the apphcable

standard, the Wixom sewer use ordinance, which is a federally

enforceable pretreatment program; and

d. The defendant acted neghgently.

33 U.S.C. §§ 1317(d), 1319(c)(1)(A).
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5. Factual Basis

The parties agree that the following facts are true, accurately

describe the defendant's role in the offense, and provide a sufficient

factual basis for the defendant's guilty plea:

Apphcable Law and Regulatory Programs

The Clean Water Act regulates and limits discharges of pollutants

into Waters of the United States such as the Huron River and its

tributary, Norton Creek. Discharges to Waters of the United States are

generally prohibited except pursuant to a National Pollutant Discharge

Elimination System (NPDES) permit. In many municipahties,

industrial users discharge wastewater to the sanitary sewer system

rather than directly to a waterbody. The sanitary sewer system conveys

wastewater to the pubhcly-owned treatment works (POTW), which then

treats and discharges wastewater to a waterbody under the POTW's

NPDES permit. Because POTWs cannot feasibly treat all industrial

pollutants, the Clean Water Act estabhshes pretreatment standards

that limit the type and concentration of pollutants industrial users such

as Tribar may discharge to the sewer system. As a part of their NPDES

permits, POTWs must estabHsh local sewer ordinances consistent with

Case 2:24-cr-20552-NGE-APP   ECF No. 8, PageID.15   Filed 12/18/24   Page 4 of 35



those pretreatment standards. These local sewer ordinances are

federally enforceable under the Clean Water Act if the U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or a state with delegated

approval authority from the EPA has reviewed and approved them as a

part of the POTWs pretreatment program.

The Michigan Department of Energy, Great Lakes, and

Environment (EGLE) is the Michigan state agency authorized by the

EPA to approve local pretreatment programs. The Wixom POTW holds

an NPDES permit issued by EGLE, which permits the Wixom POTW to

discharge to Norton Greek, a tributary of the Huron River. Wixom also

has an EGLE-approved Industrial Pretreatment Program (IPP) that it

administers and enforces through its approved sewer use ordinance and

IPP permits. The Wixom sewer use ordinance apphes to all users of the

Wixom sanitary sewer system. The Wixom sewer use ordinance

includes the following requirements, which are also incorporated in IPP

permits issued by Wixom to industrial users including Tribar:

•  Immediate notification by telephone to Wixom of any accidental,

nonroutine, or noncustomary batch discharge.
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• Prohibition on bypass, which is any intentional diversion of

wastewater from any portion of a user's pretreatment system.

Tribar

Defendant Tribar Technologies, Inc. is a Delaware corporation

that presently operates five active plants in southeast Michigan.

Defendant's Plant 5 is located at 48668 Alpha Dr., Wixom, MI 48393.

Tribar Plant 5 is a chrome plating facility that uses an

electroplating process to apply chrome finishing to plastic automotive

parts. Plant 5 generates wastewater that contains chromium

compounds, including hexavalent chromium. Hexavalent chromium is a

known carcinogen.

At Plant 5, the defendant operates a wastewater treatment

system to pretreat wastewater prior to discharging to the Wixom

sanitary sewer system. Tribar first collects wastewater in holding tanks

where some chemicals may be added to facilitate treatment. The

wastewater is then sent from the holding tanks to a series of treatment

tanks to remove pollutants including chromium. The system allows

recirculation back to the beginning of the process for additional

treatment prior to discharge to the sewer system if monitors show that
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further treatment is needed to comply with Tribar's IPP Permit and the

sewer use ordinance. Tribar's Plant 5 wastewater treatment system

discharges into the Wixom sanitary sewer system which connects to the

Wixom POTW.

Conduct at Issue

Between at least April 15 and August 1, 2022, Tribar held an IPP

Permit for Plant 5 issued by Wixom with an effective date of April 15,

2022. The IPP Permit allowed the defendant to discharge treated

wastewater into the Wixom sanitary sewer system and which flowed to

the Wixom POTW. The IPP Permit included the notification

requirement for batch discharges and the prohibition on bypass, as

provided in the Wixom sewer use ordinance described above.

Between at least some time in March 2022 and August 1, 2022,

Tribar employed two operators on alternating 12-hour shifts to run its

Plant 5 wastewater treatment system. An employee of the defendant

(Employee A) worked the 12-hour shift from approximately 6:00 PM to

6:00 AM. Employee A typically worked alone with no on-site

supervision. More than once in this same time period, another employee

of the defendant found Employee A asleep in a car in the parking lot
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during Employee A's shift rather than inside Plant 5 operating Tribar's

wastewater treatment system. Several times in this same time period,

multiple employees of the defendant observed and informed other

employees that Employee A smelled of alcohol while Employee A was

working. Multiple employees notified management personnel at Plant 5

of Employee As failure to perform wastewater treatment operator job

duties. Tribar took no action against Employee A prior to August 1,

2022, and allowed Employee A to continue working at Plant 5 with no

changes in Employee A's supervision, training, or job duties.

On or around July 23, 2022, Tribar Plant 5 accumulated

approximately 15,000 gallons of untreated wastewater that contained

high concentrations of hexavalent chromium. This wastewater had

higher levels of pollutants than the wastewater t5^ically generated

from Plant 5 operations. During the week beginning Monday, July 25,

2022, employees at Plant 5 attempted to treat this wastewater in a

holding tank to reduce the amount of hexavalent chromium before

putting it into the Plant 5 wastewater treatment system. On Friday,

July 29, 2022, the wastewater in the holding tank still contained high
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